FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/7/2018 12:48 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 96161-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON (Formerly Court of Appeals No. 76130-7-I)

BRANDON APELA AFOA, Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES, Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Bishop Law Offices, P.S. Derek K. Moore, WSBA No. 37921 Attorney for Petitioner Brandon Apela Afoa 19743 First Avenue South Seattle, WA 98148 (206) 592-9000

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Brandon Apela Afoa, who is a paraplegic and functional triplegic with "short gut" syndrome as a result of a pushback collision while on the job at Sea-Tac International Airport. His third-party claims against the Port of Seattle were the subject of two appeals, both of which were heard before this Court as well as the Court of Appeals.¹ This matter concerns his workers' compensation claim for attendant services benefits arising from the same incident, and Department of Labor and Industries' denial of his claims for 24 hours of daily attendant care. At trial Mr. Afoa was the plaintiff / petitioner seeking review of a decision from the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals affirming the Department's decision to provide compensation for only 16 hours of his needed 24 hours of daily attendant care.

¹ In Afoa I, this Court affirmed the Court of Appeals' reversal of the trial court's dismissing Mr. Afoa's claims against the Port. Afoa v. Port of Seattle (I), 176 Wn.2d 460, 296 P.3d 800 (2013); Afoa v. Port of Seattle (I), 160 Wn. App. 234, 247 P.3d 482 (Div. 1, 2011). In Afoa II, the Court of Appeals found the Port vicariously liable for injuries and damages resulting from breaches of nondelegable duties under WISHA and the retained control doctrine, including the fault allocated to four airlines to which the Port was allowed to allege non-party fault after and only after Mr. Afoa could no longer bring claims against those airlines in the same case. Afoa v. Port of Seattle (II), 198 Wn. App. 206, 393 P.3d 802 (Div. 1, 2017). In its July 19, 2018 opinion, this Court reversed the Court of Appeals' ruling on vicarious liability, finding that under RCW 4.24.070, liability for breaches of non-delegable duties can be apportioned to non-parties unless there is an express finding of agency on the jury verdict form, and that the trial Court had discretion allow the Port to bring late affirmative defenses of non-party fault of the airlines notwithstanding the requirements of Civil Rule 12(i). Afoa v. Port of Seattle (II), __Wn.2d__, _P.3d_800 (July 19, 2018), No. 94525-0. Mr. Afoa's motion for reconsideration is pending.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the published May 29, 2018 Decision of Division I of the Court of Appeals and of its July 11, 2018 Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration, Court of Appeals No. 76130-7-I; <u>Afoa v. Department of Labor and</u> <u>Industries</u>, __Wn. App__, 418 P.3d 190 (Div. 1, 2018).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This case is one of first impression as to whether an injured worker has a constitutional right to a jury trial in an appeal from the Board of Industrial Insurance appeals in a "dispute as to the amount of compensation," and whether the statutory prohibition of live witness testimony at trial violates that right. Although the Industrial Insurance Act's replacement of tort remedies with industrial insurance was found to be constitutional over a century ago, no case until now has addressed the question of whether an injured worker has a right to a jury trial to determine the amount of compensation, or whether that jury trial right is satisfied by having prior testimony read to jurors like elementary school children read plays aloud in class. Thus the following issues are presented:

A. Whether injured workers who are denied compensation under the Industrial Insurance Act have a constitutional right to a jury trial on compensation disputes under Article I § 21 of the Washington State Constitution, <u>Dacres v. Oregon Ry. & Nav.</u>

<u>Co.</u>, 1 Wash. 525, 529, 20 P. 601, 603 (1889), and <u>Sofie v.</u> <u>Fibreboard Corp.</u>, 112 Wn.2d 636, 645, 771 P.2d 711 (1989).²

- B. Whether statutory prohibitions of live witness testimony under Chapter 51.52 impermissibly infringe or hamper jury trial rights by denying the essential function of the jury of assessing witness credibility.
- C. Whether the legislature can abolish constitutional jury trial rights by establishing an alternative process and declaring it to be a "special proceeding."

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 26, 2007, Petitioner Brandon Afoa was catastrophically injured in a collision when the brakes and steering failed on a poorly maintained powered industrial truck known as a "pushback" that Mr. Afoa was operating on the tarmac at Sea-Tac International Airport.³ At the time of the collision, Mr. Afoa was in the course and scope of his employment with Evergreen Aviation Ground Logistics Enterprises, Inc. ("EAGLE"), and is

² A statutory right to a jury trial is also provided under RCW 51.52.115
³ See CP 15-16 (Petitioner's Trial Brief Statement of Facts); RP 8-9; See also Afoa v. Port of Seattle, 176 Wn.2d 460, 296 P.3d 800 (2013), Afoa v. Port of Seattle, 160 Wn. App. 234, 247 P.3d 482 (Div. 1, 2011); Afoa v. Port of Seattle (II), 198 Wn. App. 206, 393 P.3d 802 (Div. 1, 2017) Afoa v. Port of Seattle (II), __Wn.2d__, _P.3d_800 (2018), No. 94525-0 (reconsideration pending.)

thus entitled to benefits from the Washington Department of Labor and Industries under Title 51 RCW.⁴

As a result of this collision, is a T9 paraplegic with functional triplegia due to nerve injuries to his right arm. He also suffers from "short gut syndrome" from his internal abdominal injuries, which requires constant monitoring and ileostomy care.⁵

The Department approved only 16 hours per day of care under WAC 296-23-246. Mr. Afoa appealed this decision to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. After the Department's decision was affirmed, Mr. Afoa appealed to superior court and requested a jury trial of twelve.⁶

The first jury trial in this matter was heard on March 21-23, 2016. In the first trial, the procedural dictates of Chapter 51.52 RCW including RCW 51.52.115 and Chapter 263-12 WAC were followed, including having the Board hearing testimony read to the jury by attorneys and paralegals,⁷ with the exception of the videotaped deposition testimony of Mr. Afoa's attending

⁴ Id.

⁵ Board Record 546-554 (Transcript of April 24, 2015 Video Perpetuation Deposition of Paul Nutter, M.D., Brandon Afoa's Attending Physician); Board Record 526-538 (Ex. 2-14 to Dr. Nutter's deposition: illustrative exhibits showing Mr. Afoa's injuries which Dr. Nutter discussed while showing to the camera.)

⁶ See CP 17-18 (Petitioner's Trial Brief Procedural History).

⁷ See CP 51-52 (Petitioner's Motion for New Trial Procedural History.)

physician, Paul Nutter, M.D. which was only allowed because it was presented at the Board hearing.⁸

The jury found for the Department.⁹ In the first trial, the Court denied Mr. Afoa's request to give the "attending physician" jury instruction, WPI 6th 155.13.01, contrary to the requirement in <u>Hamilton v. Dept. of Labor & Indus.</u>, 11 Wn.2d 569, 571, 761 P.2d 618 (1988). On April 28, 2016, the Washington Supreme Court issued its opinion in <u>Clark County v. McManus</u>, 185 Wn.2d 466, 372 P.3d 764 (2016). The <u>McManus</u> Court affirmed the holding in <u>Hamilton</u> requiring the attending physician instruction be given.

Mr. Afoa then moved for a new trial, which was granted.¹⁰ The second jury trial in this matter was noted to begin on September 19, 2016, but ultimately continued to October 3-5, 2016.¹¹ In this trial the attending physician jury instruction was given to the jury.¹² Prior to the second trial, Mr. Afoa filed a Trial Brief stating his intention to call his sister and caregiver, witness Hannah Mulifai, to read her own Board testimony to the jury.¹³ The Department filed its Motion in Limine to strike the trial brief

⁸ Id.

⁹ Id.

¹⁰ Id.

¹¹ Id.; CP 64-66 (Judgment)

¹² See CP 52 (Petitioner's Motion for New Trial Procedural History.)

¹³ CP 15-22 (Petitioner's Trial Brief)

and prevent Ms. Mulifai from reading her testimony to the jury,¹⁴ arguing that it would be "highly prejudicial" to the Department to allow her to do so.¹⁵ Mr. Afoa also requested that Ms. Mulifai be permitted to answer questions from the jury under CR 43(k).¹⁶

Argument on the Department's motion was heard in the morning of October 3, 2016 on the first day of trial.¹⁷ The Court granted the Department's motion to prevent Ms. Mulifai from reading her own testimony, and denied Mr. Afoa's request to allow Ms. Mulifai to answer questions from the jury.¹⁸

Thus in the second jury trial the procedural dictates of Chapter 51.52 RCW including RCW 51.52.115 and Chapter 263-12 WAC were followed, including having the Board hearing testimony read to the jury by attorneys and paralegals,¹⁹ with the exception of the videotaped deposition testimony of Dr. Nutter, which was allowed because it was presented at the hearing.²⁰

The Department attacked the credibility of Mr. Afoa and his caregivers. As shown in the portions of the Board record which was read to the jury at trial, the Department argued that Mr.

¹⁴ CP 23-29 (Department's Motion in Limine)

¹⁵ CP 26 (Department's Motion in Limine, Page 4), lines 4:7

¹⁶ CP 40-42 (Petitioner's Response to Motion in Limine Pages 5-7)

¹⁷ RP 1-24

¹⁸ RP 17:20-21:8; 23:8-10

¹⁹ RP 17:21-22

²⁰ See RP 18:20-25

Afoa's caregivers were not providing the care that they testified they were providing.²¹ The Department argued and implied that the caregivers were overstating the amount of time it took to perform certain tasks, as well as the frequency of the tasks.²² The Department insinuated that Mr. Afoa and his caregivers were not telling Dr. Nutter the truth in his medical appointments.²³ The Department also went beyond merely alleging Mr. Afoa's caregivers failed to provide sufficient documentation of the care provided. The Department alleged, or heavily implied, that the caregivers were committing billing fraud. Kimberly Skoropinsky of the Department testimony read:

> However, there's one other aspect of care that we look at and it's what we consider in the course of employment and when we surveilled a lot of cases, we had to review a lot of them, we found out caregivers were off doing errands, they were off doing shopping, they were off minding the kids or they were only in contact by cell phone, and a lot times they were sleeping. And we made a determination, we do not consider you working as an employee if you were doing these things, so we limit. If you're off -- if you're sleeping and you only get up an hour to do care, we don't pay for

 ²¹ Board Record 292-309 (Cross Examination of Hannah Mulifai); Board Record 247-260 (Cross Examination of Mataala T'eo)
 ²² Id.

²³ See Perpetuation Deposition of Paul Nutter, M.D., Pages 45:22 to 46:8 (Department's counsel asked Dr. Nutter "were you aware that he only gets out of bed two days a week," which was less than what Dr. Nutter thought. Though other testimony established that Mr. Afoa gets out of bed more when the weather is good, and less when it's cold and rainy and when he lacks transportation.)

your sleeping time, we only pay for the actual care provided.

Board Record, Page 424-425 (Direct of Kimberly Skoropinsky,

Pages 112:17-113:1) (emphasis added). She elaborated:

Because then you start questioning are they really billing us – the agency becomes a concern, because are they billing us for care that's really not being provided, or if it is being provided, why are they not documenting it. So that becomes a real problem and I've spent a lot of energy talking to agencies. And so we go back and we ask that agency, I said we need you to go back and really retrain re-supervise and provide us with information that documents if you're doing the care or not.

Board Record, Page 433-434 (Direct of Kimberly Skoropinsky,

Pages 121:26-122:7) (emphasis added). She also alleged that Mr.

Afoa's paid, trained, caregivers were billing for care provided by other family members.²⁴ When asked in cross examination if she had any evidence that Mr. Afoa's caregivers were logging hours for care not provided or provided by other family members, Ms. Skoropinsky responded, "Not direct evidence, no." Board Record 445 (Cross of Kimberly Skoropinsky, Page 133:25)

After having heard this testimony read to them without the opportunity to see the actual witnesses testify, and after having been told that the Board had decided that only 16 hours was

²⁴ Board Record 444-445 (Cross of Kimberly Skoropinsky, Pages 132-133).

needed, the second jury found for the Department.²⁵ Mr. Afoa moved for a new trial to be held with the taking of live witness testimony. The trial court denied this motion and entered judgment on the verdict. Mr. Afoa appealed to Division I, who affirmed the trial court's judgment, and denied reconsideration.²⁶

V. ARGUMENT

In the same year that Washington's Constitution was enacted in 1889, Washington's Supreme Court decided <u>Dacres v.</u> <u>Oregon Ry. & Nav. Co.</u>, 1 Wash. 525, 20 P. 601 (1889). In <u>Dacres</u>, the legislature had created a cause of action under the railway fence law "to secure to the owners of live stock payment of the full value of all animals killed or maimed by railroad trains." <u>Id.</u>, 1 Wash. at 527. The law provided for compensation to be determined by an appraiser rather than a jury. Although no such cause of action had existed at common law, the <u>Dacres</u> court found that livestock owners had a right to a jury trial on the amount of

²⁵ CP 64-66 (Judgment) The Jury answered "Yes" to the question of whether the Board was correct in its decision. Id., Page 2:21-24

²⁶ The Court of Appeals' decisions are attached in the Appendix hereto. The Court of Appeals opinion quotes at length the testimony presented by the Department's witnesses in support of the Department's case, while only giving brief mention of the evidence supporting Mr. Afoa's claims. This gives an inaccurate impression that the evidence was lopsided in the Department's favor. In any event, Mr. Afoa is not contending there was insufficient evidence to support a verdict in the Department's favor, and "harmless error" is not an issue. The only facts relevant to the issue at bar are facts showing the credibility of Mr. Afoa's witnesses was questioned and that Mr. Afoa was denied the opportunity to have the jury judge their credibility through live testimony.

compensation. A hundred years later, <u>Dacres</u> was affirmed by this Court in <u>Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp.</u>, 112 Wn.2d 636, 771 P.2d 711, 716–17 (1989), finding legislative caps on compensation unconstitutional for violating the right to have compensation determined by a jury.

In 1911, the legislature enacted Washington's Industrial Insurance Act ("IIA"), which abolished common law negligence claims of workers against their direct employers and replaced it with a no-fault system designed to provide "sure and certain relief" to workers who were injured on the job. RCW 51.04.010. The IIA was immediately challenged on constitutional grounds. It was first challenged by State Auditor C. W. Clausen who denied payment of a furniture bill for the newly created Industrial Insurance Department on the grounds that the IIA was unconstitutional. State v. Clausen, 65 Wash. 156, 117 P. 111 (1911). It was next challenged by the Mountain Timber Company, an employer contesting the mandatory premiums. State v. Mountain Timber Co., 75 Wash. 581, 135 P. 645 (1913); Mountain Timber Co. v. State of Washington, 243 U.S. 219, 37 S. Ct. 260, 61 L. Ed. 685 (1917). In both Clausen and Mountain Timber, the courts upheld the IIA as a legitimate exercise of the State's police power to tax and regulate industry. Constitutional jury rights were raised, but only in the context of whether the legislature could abolish a cause

of action. The Courts ruled it could, and that jury trial rights were

not implicated because once the cause of action was abolished,

there was "nothing left to be tried by a jury." Shea v. Olson, 185

Wash. 143, 156–57, 53 P.2d 615, 620–21 (1936) (discussing

Clausen and Mountain Timber). However, until now, Washington

courts have not addressed the question of whether an injured

worker (or a self-insured employer) is entitled to a jury trial in a

dispute over compensation.²⁷

Review is appropriate under on all four grounds set forth in

RAP 13.4 (b), which provides:

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

²⁷ The process has survived challenges based on due process rights, but not jury trial rights. See <u>Buffelen Woodworking Co. v. Cook</u>, 28 Wn. App. 502, 507, 625 P.2d 703 (Div. 2, 1981). ("We cannot find that the system is so susceptible to error as to deny due process of law.") See also <u>Zavala v. Twin City Foods</u>, 185 Wn. App. 838, 343 P.3d 761 (Div. 3, 2015) (Affirmed due process following a bench trial, where no jury trial was requested and no jury trial rights were implicated.)

RAP 13.4 (b). The Court of Appeals' held "the IIA and the limitation on presentation of evidence and testimony does not violate the right to a jury trial guaranteed by article I, section 21."28 However, the opinion is not clear as to whether it found injured workers have no jury trial rights or whether they do have those rights, but those rights are satisfied by having prior testimony read to a jury. If the former, the decision is on conflict with the Supreme Court's decisions in Dacres and in Sofie providing jury trial rights to have compensation and damages determined by a jury. If the latter, the decision is in conflict with decisions of this Court and with other decisions of the Court of Appeals finding assessing the credibility of witnesses to be an essential function of the jury.²⁹ Further, it is self-evident that the question of whether injured workers, or self-insured employers for that matter, have a constitutional right to a jury trial in disputes regarding the amount of compensation is a significant question of law under the Washington Constitution and one that involves an issue of substantial public interest.

²⁸ Appendix A, Page 16.

 ²⁹ State v. Demery, 144 Wn.2d 753, 762, 30 P.3d 1278, 1283 (2001) *citing* State
 v. Whelchel, 115 Wn.2d 708, 724, 801 P.2d 948 (1990); In re Marriage of
 Swaka, 179 Wn. App. 549, 554, 319 P.3d 69, 71 (Div. 2, 2014); Herriman v.
 May, 142 Wn. App. 226, 234, 174 P.3d 156, 160 (Div. 3, 2007); Kinsman v.
 Englander, 140 Wn. App. 835, 843–44, 167 P.3d 622, 626 (Div. 2, 2007).

A. <u>Injured Workers have Constitutional and Statutory Rights</u> to a Jury Trial in Compensation Disputes

Injured workers, such as Mr. Afoa, as well as self-insured

employers, have constitutional rights to a jury trial under Article I,

Section 21 of the Washington State Constitution, which Provides:

The right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate, but the legislature may provide for a jury of any number less than twelve in courts not of record, and for a verdict by nine or more jurors in civil cases in any court of record, and for waiving of the jury in civil cases where the consent of the parties interested is given thereto.

Wa. Const. art. I, § 21. Washington courts interpret this provision as guaranteeing those rights to trial by jury that existed at the time of the constitution's adoption in 1889. <u>Bird v. Best Plumbing</u>
<u>Group, LLC</u>, 175 Wn.2d 756, 768, 287 P.3d 551 (2013); <u>Sofie v.</u>
<u>Fibreboard Corp.</u>, 112 Wn.2d 636, 645, 771 P.2d 711 (1989).

Actions sounding in tort and in contract are legal in nature. Brown

v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 94 Wn.2d 359, 617 P.2d 704 (1980).

Prior to Washington's adoption of the Industrial Insurance Act, actions against one's employer for workplace injuries sounded in tort. <u>Sofie</u>, 112 Wn.2d at 650. The <u>Sofie</u> Court found that although the Legislature has the power to remove causes of action, as it did when enacting the Industrial Insurance Act, it does not have the power to deny "litigants an essential function of the jury." <u>Id.</u> at 650-651. Specifically, the <u>Sofie</u> Court found the Legislature did not have the power to remove the essential function of

determination of damages from the jury. Id.

In addition to his constitutional right to a jury trial, which cannot be abrogated by statute, the subject statute itself provides for a right to a jury trial. RCW 51.52.115. Statutory construction is a question of law to be reviewed de novo. <u>Pacheco v. Ames</u>, 149 Wn.2d 431, 436, 69 P.3d 324 (2003).

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