FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/8/2018 11:10 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96161-1

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### BRANDON APELA AFOA,

Petitioner,

v.

### DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Paul Weideman, WSBA No. 42254 Assistant Attorney General Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-3820

###

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

This Court should deny review because the Court of Appeals applied settled law and principles of appellate jurisdiction when it rejected Afoa's challenges to the procedures for workers' compensation appeals in superior court. *Clausen* held that there is no constitutional right to a jury trial under article I, section 21 of the state constitution in a workers' compensation appeal to superior court. 65 Wash. at 210-11. That holding, which this Court has subsequently affirmed, dispenses with Afoa's arguments that his jury right is constitutional and that the superior court's application of the procedures in RCW 51.52.115 hampered that right. The application of well-settled law does not warrant review.

And the state constitution authorizes the Legislature's decision in RCW 51.52.115 to limit the jury's review in workers' compensation appeals to the Board record. The state constitution gives the Legislature the power to shape appellate review. Const., art. IV, § 6; *Stewart v. Dep't* 

of Emp't Sec., 191 Wn.2d 42, 52-53, 419 P.3d 838 (2018). When the superior court reviews an administrative decision, it acts in a limited appellate capacity. Stewart, 191 Wn.2d at 52. The Department has original jurisdiction to decide workers' compensation matters, and the Board, superior court, and appellate court have appellate jurisdiction only. Kingery v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 132 Wn.2d 162, 171, 937 P.2d 565 (1997); RCW 51.04.010. From an administrative proceeding, such as the Board proceeding, the Legislature is not constitutionally required to provide an appeal right, and it may shape the scope of any appellate review it provides. See Williams v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1, 97 Wn.2d 215, 218, 643 P.2d 426 (1982); Const. art. IV, § 6 (appellate jurisdiction in the superior court exists "as may be prescribed by law"). From this backdrop it is apparent that the Legislature provided a jury trial for workers' compensation appeals out of policy concerns, not constitutional dictates.

A. The Court of Appeals' Application of Settled Law That Article I, Section 21 Does Not Apply in Workers' Compensation Appeals Is Not a Significant Question of Constitutional Law or a Matter of Substantial Public Interest

There is no significant question of constitutional law under RAP 13.4(b)(3) about whether Afoa has a constitutional right to a jury trial under article I, section 21. He does not, as *Clausen* and later cases

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Without a statutory right to appeal, a statutory or constitutional writ would be available. *Williams*, 97 Wn.2d at 218.

establish. Nor is there matter of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because he establishes no right to live witnesses before a jury.

1. Clausen held there is no constitutional right to a jury trial under article I, section 21, and later cases affirmed this principle

The state constitution provides a right to a jury trial:

The right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate, but the legislature may provide for a jury of any number less than twelve in courts not of record, and for a verdict by nine or more jurors in civil cases in any court of record, and for waiving of the jury in civil cases where the consent of the parties interested is given thereto.

Const., art. I, § 21. But "the right of trial by jury is not limitless." *Davis v. Cox*, 183 Wn.2d 269, 289, 351 P.3d 862 (2015). Article I, section 21 guarantees those jury trial rights that existed when the constitution was adopted in 1889. *Bird v. Best Plumbing Grp., LLC*, 175 Wn.2d 756, 768, 287 P.3d 551 (2012). There is no right to a jury trial "in statutorily created actions without common law analogues." *Id.* at 769 (quoting *State v. State Credit Ass* 'n, 33 Wn. App. 617, 621, 657 P.2d 327 (1983)).

Workers' compensation actions are statutorily created actions without common law analogues. Unlike a plaintiff in a common law tort claim, a workers' compensation claimant can receive benefits for a workplace injury even if nobody is at fault for the injury. *See* RCW 51.04.010; *Clausen*, 65 Wash. at 176-77. At common law, an injured

worker could only recover through tort. See RCW 51.04.010; Floyd v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 44 Wn.2d 560, 573, 269 P.2d 563 (1954); Clausen, 65 Wash. at 188-89. But the Legislature enacted the Industrial Insurance Act because it determined that common law tort remedies were "uncertain, slow, and inadequate." RCW 51.04.010; see Clausen, 65 Wash. at 169.

Clausen held that there is no constitutional right to a jury trial for workers' compensation appeals under article I, section 21. 65 Wash. at 208-11. There, the state auditor refused to issue a warrant to pay a bill under the recently enacted Industrial Insurance Act. *Id.* at 168. The auditor asserted that the Act's provision making jury trials discretionary violated article I, section 21 of the state constitution. *Id.* at 175-76, 207. The auditor argued that a worker had a constitutional right to have a jury decide "the amount that may be recovered" from a work injury, just as a plaintiff would in a tort case. *Id.* at 207.

But *Clausen* soundly rejected the argument that workers had a constitutional right to a jury under the Act, the same argument that Afoa

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Under the original 1911 Act, in a worker's appeal of a Department order, the trial court had full discretion over whether to impanel a jury, except in some employer appeals. *See* Laws of 1911, ch. 74, §§ 9, 15, 16, 20. Juries were mandatory in those limited cases. Laws of 1911, ch. 74, §§ 9, 15, 16, 20. In 1939, the Legislature first provided a statutory right to jury trial on demand. Laws of 1939, ch. 184, §1; *Floyd*, 44 Wn.2d at 574.

makes here. As *Clausen* explained, the right to a trial by jury in civil cases "is incident only to causes of action recognized by law." 65 Wash. at 210. The Act eliminated the employee's negligence cause of action, as well as the employer's defense to such an action, and "merge[d] both in a statutory indemnity fixed and certain." *Clausen*, 65 Wash. at 210. This new statutory scheme did not implicate the right to trial by jury because that right depended on the cause of action of negligence, which no longer existed:

If the power to do away with a cause of action in any case exists at all in the exercise of the police power of the state, then the right of trial by jury is thereafter no longer involved in such cases. The right of jury trial being incidental to the right of action, to destroy the one is to leave the other nothing upon which to operate.

Clausen, 65 Wash at 210-11. So Clausen rejected the auditor's constitutional challenge under article I, section 21—the same challenge Afoa brings here—noting that a statutory remedy now existed for workplace injuries. *Id.* at 175, 208-212.

This Court has reaffirmed *Clausen*'s article I, section 21 holding. In *State v. Mountain Timber Co.*, 75 Wash. 581, 583, 135 P. 645 (1913), aff'd sub nom. Mountain Timber Co. v. Wash., 243 U.S. 219, 37 S. Ct. 260, 61 L. Ed. 685 (1917), this Court explained that the Act "abolished rights of actions and defenses, and in certain cases denied the right of trial

by jury." And, decades later, this Court again confirmed that the Legislature "had a right to abrogate the right to trial by jury as provided in the 1911 act." *Floyd*, 44 Wn.2d at 573; *see also Shea v. Olson*, 185 Wash. 143, 156, 53 P.2d 615 (1936) (tort case citing *Clausen* and *Mountain Timber* for the proposition that because statute at issue "abolished all right of recovery for negligence, there was nothing left to be tried by a jury.").

# 2. Because there is no constitutional right to a jury trial in workers' compensation appeals, there was no violation here

If the Legislature does not violate article I, section 21 if it declines to allow a jury in a workers' compensation appeal at all, there can be no violation if the Legislature adopts a statute that allows a jury to review the case on the Board record. In Afoa's case, the trial court followed RCW 51.52.115 and impaneled a jury, made a discretionary decision about who could read the testimony, and, consistent with RCW 51.52.115, did not allow the jury to ask questions or consider live testimony other than what the Board considered. Because Afoa had no constitutional right to a jury trial, the trial court did not hamper that right when it followed the procedures in RCW 51.52.115.

Clausen, Mountain Timber, and Floyd all support that parties have no constitutional right to a jury trial under article I, section 21 in any type of workers' compensation appeal. Afoa posits that Clausen and Mountain

Timber are narrow decisions that do not address appeals involving a "dispute over compensation." Pet. 10-11. He suggests it is a matter of "first impression" whether "an injured worker has a constitutional right to a jury trial" in a workers' compensation appeal that involves a "dispute as to the amount of compensation." Pet. 2. Afoa is mistaken.

He is mistaken because *Clausen* is clear that because the Legislature abolished the negligence cause of action for work injuries, parties do not have a constitutional right to a jury trial in a workers' compensation appeal. As *Clausen* states, the "right of trial by jury is . . . no longer involved" in cases, like workers' compensation appeals, where the Legislature has abolished the common law action. 65 Wash at 210-11. Afoa also ignores that the auditor in *Clausen* raised the precise argument he raises here: that "the amount that may be recovered" by the worker (or "the amount of compensation," in Afoa's phrasing, Pet. 2) is a factual issue that only a jury can decide. *Id.* at 207. *Clausen* rejected that argument since the Legislature abolished workers' common law negligence action, replacing it with the workers' compensation system. *Id.* at 207-08.

Clausen was right to reject that argument because a jury in a workers' compensation appeal can never decide the amount of damages.

In a workers' compensation appeal, if a jury concludes that a worker is

entitled to compensation, the jury does not decide the amount of the benefit. The statute determines that amount. *See* RCW 51.32.060, .080, .090. Afoa equates "damages" with "compensation," but this is a false equivalence. Pet. 12. Unlike in a tort case, the jury in a workers' compensation case cannot assess the facts surrounding damages to arrive at an amount it believes would fairly compensate the worker for the worker's injuries.

Afoa seeks to circumvent precedent by suggesting that *Clausen* is limited to a bill dispute and *Mountain Timber* to employer premiums. Pet. 10-11. That narrow reading is incorrect. As *Clausen* recognizes, the Legislature either did away with the jury trial right when it abrogated the common law, or it did not. There is no constitutional right to a jury trial in any workers' compensation appeal. The right is statutory only, and it is undisputed that the trial court followed the statutory procedures here. RCW 51.52.115.

# 3. The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with this court's *Sofie* and *Dacres* Decisions

There is no conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and this Court's decisions in *Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 112 Wn.2d 636, 771 P.2d 711 (1989), and *Dacres v. Oregon Railway & Navigation Co.*, 1 Wash. 525, 20 P. 601 (1889), contrary to Afoa's arguments. Pet. 12. Both

cases are different for two reasons: they involved the superior court's original jurisdiction and they involved common law causes of action. By contrast, a workers' compensation appeal involves the superior court's appellate jurisdiction and is not a common law cause of action, but a statutorily created one. There is no conflict.

Sofie did not recognize a constitutional right to a jury in a workers' compensation case. It held that the Legislature could not cap noneconomic damages in tort cases because juries determine damages. Sofie, Wn.2d at 638. Sofie expressly distinguished its holding from the Industrial Insurance Act context because the Legislature had abolished the common law cause of action for workplace injuries. Id. at 651.

There is also no conflict with *Dacres*. Pet. 9-10. *Dacres* involved a common law action for damages (for animals killed or maimed by railroads), so the Legislature could not enact a statute taking the damages determination away from the jury. 1 Wash. at 527, 529. But this case does not involve the common law; the Legislature has abolished the common law and adopted a statutory scheme that gives injured workers "sure and certain relief . . . regardless of questions of fault and to the exclusion of every other remedy, proceeding, or compensation." RCW 51.04.010; *Clausen*, 65 Wash. at 177-78. *Dacres* does not conflict.

4. An agency can limit a jury's review to the agency record in special proceedings without violating article I, section 21

Afoa's failure to acknowledge that the state constitution allows the Legislature to shape appellate review leads to another error: he is wrong that the Legislature cannot create special proceedings with procedures different from civil trials. *Contra* Pet. 17. The Legislature did not allow live testimony in workers' compensation appeals because the jury sits as an appellate body. His arguments about "special proceedings" create no reason for review.

The superior court civil rules do not apply to "special proceedings" if statutes that govern special proceedings are inconsistent with the civil rules. The civil rules govern the procedure in all civil suits in superior court, "whether cognizable as cases at law or in equity with the exceptions stated in rule 81." CR 1 (emphasis added). Under CR 81, the civil rules govern "all civil proceedings" except "where inconsistent with rules or statutes applicable to special proceedings." CR 81(a).

Workers' compensation cases are "special proceedings," as this Court recognized in *Putman v. Wenatchee Valley Medical Center, P.S.*, 166 Wn.2d 974, 216 P.3d 374 (2009). Special proceedings under CR 81 include "those where the legislature has exercised its police power and entirely changed the remedies available (such as the workers'

compensation system)." *Putman*, 166 Wn.2d at 982; *see also Scheib v. Crosby*, 160 Wn. App. 345, 352, 249 P.3d 184 (2011). Because the

Legislature created a new proceeding by enacting the Industrial Insurance

Act in 1911, workers' compensation appeals are special proceedings.

The Court of Appeals correctly applied *Putman* and concluded that a workers' compensation appeal is a special proceeding. *Afoa*, 3 Wn. App. at 810-11. Afoa cites CR 81(b) to argue that his jury trial rights cannot be abrogated by labeling them "special proceedings." Pet. 17. But this argument both ignores *Putman* and fails to read CR 81(a) and CR 81(b) in harmony. CR 81(b) states: "*Subject to the provisions of section (a) of this rule*, these rules supersede all procedural statutes and other rules that may be in conflict." (Emphasis added). So the civil rules supersede all procedural statutes, subject to the provisions of CR 81(a), which says that the civil rules do not apply "where inconsistent with rules or statutes applicable to special proceedings." Because workers' compensation appeals are special proceedings, the Legislature's procedures in RCW 51.52.115 apply.

The Court of Appeals correctly applied *Putman* here, and its holding applies only to workers' compensation appeals. Afoa exaggerates the Court's holding, raising the specter that the Legislature could abolish all jury trials and replace them with "special proceedings." Pet. 19. His

hypothetical misses the mark because article I, section 21 guarantees those jury trial rights that existed when the constitution was adopted in 1889.

Bird, 175 Wn.2d at 768. The Court of Appeals' correct application of 
Putman does not raise a matter of substantial public interest.

B. Because the Superior Court Has Appellate Jurisdiction in Workers' Compensation Appeals, There is No Conflict with This Court's Cases About Jury Credibility Determinations in Original Actions

Because juries in workers' compensation appeals sit as appellate bodies, there is also no conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and cases discussing a jury's ability to assess witness credibility. Pet. 14.

The Legislature may prescribe rules for judicial review of agency decisions. *Stewart*, 191 Wn.2d at 53. The Department has original jurisdiction to decide workers' compensation matters, and the Board, superior court, and appellate court have appellate jurisdiction only. *Kingery*, 132 Wn.2d at 171; RCW 51.04.010. Consistent with bedrock principles of appellate review, the Legislature limited review on appeal to the record below. RCW 51.52.115. That comports with article IV, section 6 of the state constitution and does not conflict with the cases Afoa cites about jurors' ability to assess credibility.

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